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Mechanical Engineering Hall is a 3-1/2 story building of mill-type construction with
load bearing walls and partitions of brick built on a stone foundation. The foundation
walls are 16% and 21 inch thick. The two lecture halls have 15 foot ceilings and are
approximately 35 feet square, with an 11 inch center column which supports a 14x16

inch wood girder; the girder supports 4 x 12 inch joists.

The building originally housed offices, two large lecture halls, a drafting room with
northern skylight, a machine shop used for instruction and plant maintenance, a wood
shop that served for plant maintenance as a carpenter shop and for instruction in
pattern making, a forge shop and foundry, a boiler room housing boilers that supplied
steam for heating the campus, a covered coal bin, and an engine room that housed
electric generators. The University produced its own electricity from ca. 1893-96
until ca. 1918.

An interior stairway leads to the second and third floors, and it confiects to the
machine shop and the wood shop which is over the machine shop. A spirat staircase
originally gave access directly from the machine shop to the wood shop. Power was
initially supplied to the machine tools by an overhead line shaft driven by a Brown
Corliss steam engine purchased by William T. Magruder in 1888 or 1889. The spiral
stairs were removed about 1930 or earlier. The downstairs lecture hall and the
machine shop were partitioned for ROTC offices about 1960-65.

The roofs of the foundry and boiler room were supported by wrought iron trusses.
These remain, although the foundry has been converted to an armory for the ROTC.

Three buildings on the campus: the main building (Kirkland), Wesley (burned Feb. 19,
1932), and Mechanical Engineering Hall, contained water tanks in their attics so that
a supply of water for service and firefighting would be available, City water
pressure had proven to be so-erratic that when Mechanical Engineering-Hall was con-~
structed, a 30,000 gallon brick-lined reservoir was built near the boiler room. This
was filled from the city main and, in turn, was pumped bypumps in M. E. Hall to the
three water tanks in the buildings. We have no record of the date of removal of the
reservoir, but it was during the period 1896-1924,

Added demand for heating steam and electricity forced a 30-foot eastward extension of
the boiler and engine rooms in 1909. Drive-on ramps were added to the coal bin to
facilitate unloading of coal trucks at some time prior to construction of the present
steam generating plant ca. 1924,

When the present campus steam plant was constructed, the old coal bin, boiler and
engine rooms were converted to teaching laboratories and were so used until the
period 1950-1974 when they were gradually removed to newer buildings. The smoke
stack began to shed bricks and was razed in the 1930s.

In 1892 the first playing field of the University, originally called Dudley Field,
later called Curry Field, and now the site of the School of Law, was constructed
across from the Mechanical Engineering Hall. Probably shortly thereafter the pipe
shop was removed from the basement of the teaching wing of the building, and the
basement enlarged to create a dressing room for the athletic teams. It doubled as a

dressing room for students enrolled in shop classes.
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A nondescript temporary addition to house the Department of Chemical Engineering was
added in 1940. Chemical engineering moved out in 1974 and it is probable that
this addition, together with the boiler and engine rooms will eventually be razed.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

vVanderbilt University opened for classes on October 4, 1875. The first catalog of the
University was issued during the first school year and referred to offering a degree in
civil engineering. This was planned as a graduate degree since the first professor of
engineering, Olin H. Landreth was not hired to teach engineering until the summer of
1879. Engineering classes were first held in the main building (now Kirkland Hall)

and in Science Hall (completed 1880). Engineering was at first a "school" in the
"academic department" but was later set up under its own dean, Olin H. Landreth, in
1886. This is the same year that Landreth designed and supervised construction of

the West Side Row student dormitories.

In 1887 William T. Magruder was appointed the first professor of Mechanical Engineering.
In January 1888 Cornelius Vanderbilt II gave the university funds to build Mechanical
Engineering Hall and to make other improvements to the campus. The cornerstone of

the building was laid on May 9, 1888. Magruder participated in the ceremonies by
placing the sealed box of papers in the stone.

Inspired by the interest in Mechanics Hall and the great Corliss steam engine at the
1876 Philadelphia. Centennial, the American Society.of.Mﬁéhanical Engineers was founded
in New York in 1880. Professor Landreth of Vanderbilt was a vice-president of the
society and- perhaps induced the society to hold its 17th semi-annual meeting in
Nashville May 8-12, 1888, and to participate in laying the cornerstone of the building.

Mechanical Engineering Hall at Vanderbilt was probably the first building in Tennessee
specifically designed from the outset for the teaching of engineering. The University
of Tennessee at Knoxville School of Engineering is older; it was started in 1869 to
take advantage of the Morrill Act (1862), but Estabrook Hall was not built until 1893,
nor was it completed and so named until 1906. Estabrook apparently grew out of a
campus maintenance carpenter shop and was gradually added to and modified. Following
completion of Vanderbilt's Mechanical Engineering Hall, Professor Magruder sent plans
and drawings of the building to Charles W. Dabney, president of the University of
Tennessee, for his information.

Professor Magruder acted as the University's engineer on the job and he probably
provided a great deal of input as to the general layout and design. He was rewarded
for doing a good job by being given the additional job of superintendent of buildings
for all the Vanderbilt campusses; a job he held until he left Vanderbilt in 1896. He
kept a meticulous file on all his activities; i.e. copies of his outgoing mail from
1888-~1896 are in the Vanderbilt archives and form a basis for our knowledge of the
building.
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Nashville architect W. C. Smith, who designed the main building, the old Gymnasium,

and Science Hall, appears to have been the architect for the building., At least he

was paid at least $250.00 for his services; none of the original tracings now in the
Vanderbilt Plant Operations files carry any signatures or dates. The firm of W. G. Bust
and Company supplied the brick and provided the brick masonry. They made the special
tapered and rounded brick in a hand-operated brick press that was still in existence

in 1974, according to John S. Herbert. Herbert believes that the fancy terracotta
filigree work and special designs over the entrance were made by the Seaboard Terra-
cotta Co. of Amboy, New Jersey. The l#cal firm of Ryan & Shea did the original
plumbing.

A distinctive feature of the building is the inclusion in the front exterior wall of
a stone bearing the inscription "BETHEL 1790." (Mr. Robert McGaw, secretary of the
university, understands that this stone and adjacent bricks came from historic
Methodist colleges of this region.) The terracotta designs over the doorway showing
a T square, triangle, dividers, pumps, hammer, anvil, and gear, as well as the model
of Watt's governor on the roof are equally unusual features of the building.



